2006

Kay W. Eager v. Ray Burrows, Ronald Burrows, Linda Davis, Arthur Kiisel, Julia Rodgers, Florence Webster : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by virtue of § 78-2a-2(3)(j), *U.C.A.*

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW and STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. **Issue:** Did the trial court apply in its grant of summary judgment in favor of Defendants the correct legal standard in determining that (a) the agent holding a power of attorney for asset management had the authority to gift away all of the principal's personal property while the principal was confined in a long term care facility; and (b) such gifting did not violate his duty of loyalty to the principal. A subsidiary question is whether the agent, assuming he had authority to gift away all of the principal's personal property, had a duty to act in a manner consistent with the principal's last will and testament, which narrowly limits the recipients of the principal's personal property.

This issue was preserved by raising it during the proceedings for the motion and cross-motion for summary judgment and then timely filing a notice of appeal.

Standard of Review: Questions of whether the correct legal standards were applied are questions of law and are reviewed for correctness. *See generally State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. **General Substance of the Case.** This is a probate case that involves the scope of power of an agent holding a power of attorney for asset management. Specifically, does an agent holding a power of attorney (a) have authority to gift away all personal property of a principal who is in a care facility; (b) have a duty of loyalty to the principal; and (c) have a duty to act in a manner that is consistent with the principal's last will and testament?

b. **Material Facts Relevant to the Subject Issue.**¹ Ralph and Ida Burrows were married to each other for more than 40 years but they had no children together. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 4-8 (R. 14). Each of them was previously married: Ralph twice and Ida once. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 5-7 (R. 14). From those prior marriages, each had two children, or "issue" as that term is defined in the Probate Code. *Id.*; *See also* §§ 75-1-201(5), (9), and (25), Utah Code Ann. In addition, Ralph brought four stepchildren (not his own) into his marriage with Ida. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 6 (R.14). This created for Ralph and Ida a family of eight "children": two of issue from Ralph: Ray and Ron Burrows; two of issue from Ida: Kay Whiteley Eagar and William Whiteley; and four stepchildren brought to the marriage from a prior wife of Ralph: Linda Davis, Arthur

¹ The trial court denied Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Therefore, the facts are presented from the view of Plaintiff, since the trial court is obligated to accept the facts in the light most favorable to Plaintiff.

Kiisel, Julia Rodgers, and Florence Webster (collectively referred to herein as the “Children”). *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 5-7 (R. 14). None of the four stepchildren was adopted by Ralph or Ida. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 6 (R. 14). Likewise, Ralph’s two children were not adopted by Ida and Ida’s two children were not adopted by Ralph. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 5-7 (R. 14).

In 2002, Ralph died. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 8 (R. 14). Three years later in 2005, Ida died. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 3 ¶ 11 (R. 15). Prior to Ralph’s death, they each executed personal estate documents, including a (i); personal will (Addendum 2); (ii) power of attorney for asset management (Addendum 5); and (iii) medical power of attorney. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 12 (R. 15). They also entered into a joint trust agreement (the “Burrows Trust”). *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 14 (R. 15); *Addendum 4*.

Upon the death of both Ralph and Ida, the Burrows Trust left their residual estates in equal shares to the eight Children, or as expressly designated in the trust agreement, to the eight “beneficiaries” (hereinafter “Beneficiaries”). *Burrows Trust* at 5 (R. 50); *Addendum 4*. However, their individual wills left all of their personal property to their respective “issue” and not to the group of eight Children who are designated as “beneficiaries.” *Ida’s Will* at 1 (R. 32); *Addendum 2*; *Ralph’s Will* at 1 (R. 18); *Addendum 3*. It is important to note that their personal property was not intended to be poured over into the Burrows Trust. In effect, Ralph and Ida had clearly designed

different plans for distributing their personal property than they designed for the distribution of their other assets, or their “Residuary Estate.”

Just prior to Ralph’s death, Ida was in a hospital and was shortly thereafter moved to a care facility. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 9 (R. 14); *Kay Eagar 2nd Aff.* at 2 ¶ 6 (R. 160).

Ralph’s son, Ray Burrows, one of the Defendants herein, immediately took charge of Ralph’s and Ida’s estates. *Kay Eagar 2nd Aff.* at 2 ¶ 4-5, 21 (R. 160, 162). Kay learned years later that Ray was at that time acting under a power of attorney for asset management that Ida had granted to him years earlier. *Kay Eagar 2nd Aff.* at 3 ¶ 13-16 (R. 161).

Within a few weeks after Ralph’s death, Ray gifted away all of Ida’s personal property in approximately equal shares to the eight Children. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2-3 ¶ 10 (R. 14-15). During the gifting process by Ray, Ida’s daughter, Kay Eagar, the Plaintiff herein and now also the court-appointed Personal Representative for Ida’s estate, demanded that Ray cease disposing of Ida’s personal property. *Kay Eagar 2nd Aff.* at 5 ¶ 26-27 (R. 163). Nonetheless, Ray continued gifting away all of Ida’s personal property. *Id.* Unable to stop Ray, Kay contributed \$600 for the personal property that she received, and she requested that all of the Children pay for the personal property that they received. *Kay Eagar 2nd Aff.* at 5 ¶ 28 (R. 163). None of them did so. *Id.*

Ida lived for another three years. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 3 ¶ 11 (R. 15). Upon her death in 2005, Kay was appointed as the Personal Representative for Ida’s estate.

Kay Eagar Aff. at 3 ¶ 12 (R. 15). Kay then promptly requested that all personal property that Ray had gifted away to the Children be returned to Ida's estate. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 2 (R. 14). However, Ray and the other Defendants refused to return any of the personal property. *Kay Eagar Aff.* at 2 ¶ 3 (R. 14). Although the trial court made no findings on the value of the personal property gifted away, the value was meaningful if only in monetary way. Ray alleged in his affidavit that one item of personal property received by Kay has a value of \$6,000. *Ray Burrows Aff.* at 3 ¶ 8 (R.119).

Acting as Personal Representative for Ida's estate, Kay commenced an action for the return of Ida's property. The trial court, however, approved Ray's gifting on the basis that it seemed equitable and because the word "gift" was included in Ida's Power of Attorney for Asset Management. *See Order* at 3 (R. 274); *Addendum 1*; Power of Attorney at 1 (R. 124); *Addendum 5*. In doing so, the trial court ignored Ida's wishes that she clearly and unambiguously expressed in her Last Will and Testament.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The mere presence of the term “gift” in Ida’s Power of Attorney for Asset Management didn’t authorize her agent to gift away all personal property to himself, the other children, and the stepchildren. Such gifting would have no benefit to Ida.

Moreover, gifting Ida’s property to the eight Children contravened Ida’s estate plan. Her Will expressly leaves all personal property to her two children, or “issue” as that term is used in her Will. Her Will and her Trust provide that her Residuary Estate goes equally to the eight children. But only her two children are to receive her personal property.

By gifting away Ida’s personal property to the eight children, Ray breached his duty to Ida, since the gifting did not benefit her and the pattern of gifting was inconsistent with the pattern of gifting expressed in her Will.

Public policy also dictates that any gifting by Ida’s agent should take into account Ida’s Will and her overall estate plan. Ray’s gifting of Ida’s personal property was inconsistent with such public policy.

The trial court erred in approving Ray’s gifting by failing to appreciate the distinction between Ida’s estate plan for her personal property and her estate plan for her Residuary Estate. Understanding that distinction would be reasonably led to the conclusion that Ray’s gifting was inconsistent with Ida’s estate plan, and, therefore, Ray’s gifting breached his duty to Ida. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court and remand for the entry of an order granting Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE:

Did the trial court apply in its grant of summary judgment in favor of Defendants the correct legal standard in determining that (a) the agent holding a power of attorney for asset management had the authority to gift away all of the principal's personal property while the principal was confined in a long term care facility; and (b) such gifting did not violate his duty of loyalty to the principal. A subsidiary question is whether the agent, assuming he had authority to gift away all of the principal's personal property, had a duty to act in a manner consistent with the principal's last will and testament, which narrowly limits the recipients of the principal's personal property.

I. The trial court erred when it ruled that Ray Burrows, as the agent holding a power of attorney for asset management granted to him by Ida Burrows, had authority to gift away all of Ida's personal property.

Prior to Ralph's death, Ida granted a power of attorney to Ray Burrows, Ralph's son.

See Durable Power of Attorney for Asset Management (R. 124-25); Addendum 5.

"A power of attorney is an instrument in writing by which one person, as principal, authorizes another to act as agent." *Kline v. Utah Dep't of Health*, 776 P.2d 57, 61 (Utah App. 1989) (citing *In re Estate of Lienemann*, 222 Neb. 169, 382 N.W.2d 595, 602 (1986); *In re Estate of Rolater*, 542 P.2d 219, 223 (Okla. App. 1975)). "The scope of the authority so conferred may, by the terms of the instrument itself, be general or limited, but the instrument creating this agency relationship is to be strictly construed." *Id.* (citing

Rolater, 542 P.2d at 223; *see Huntsman v. Huntsman*, 56 Utah 609, 192 P. 368, 370 (1920) (whether attorney-in-fact has power to convey principal's property for nominal consideration must be "deducible from the language or manifest intent of the [power of attorney] instrument")).

Ida was the principal, and Ray was acting as Ida's agent. An agent is a fiduciary with respect to matters within the scope of his agency. *SEE* RESTATEMENT, AGENCY 2d, Section 13; *Hopkins v. Wardley Corp.*, 611 P.2d 1204, 1206 (Utah 1980).

While the power of attorney contains a single reference to the term "gift," such reference in common usage would not imply authority for Ray to gift away all of Ida's personal property. Taken in context with the entire document, the term "gift" is only incidental and minor in importance. This is particularly true during Ida's lifetime when she may need her personal property and where her last will and testament provides for the distribution of her personal property in a specific manner upon her death. Importantly, there are no contrary facts that show any different intent.

The power of attorney granted by Ida appears from its title to be limited to managing her assets, *i.e.*, "asset management." Nonetheless, Ray relied solely on the word "gift" for his authority to gift away all of Ida's personal property while she was in a care facility.²

² There is no evidence that Ida was terminally ill nor that she was fully incapacitated at the time Ray gifted away her personal property. *Kay Eagar 2nd Aff.* at 4 ¶ 24 (R. 162). In fact, she lived for nearly three years after the gifting took place.

Plaintiff is unaware of any cases, in Utah or in other jurisdictions, that address or interpret the term “gift” as used in a power of attorney where that term is undefined and is used in a minor way *viz-a-viz* all other terms in the power of attorney.

Ida’s property was for her benefit, not anyone else. As long as she was alive, she had a right to expect that her property would be used for her benefit and care. As acknowledged by Ray, Ida’s vehicles and lawn mower were sold and the proceeds were deposited into the Burrows Trust for her benefit. *Ray Burrows Aff.* at 2 ¶ 4 (R.118). Those proceeds were to be used for Ida’s care, whether such care was in her home, another home, or in a long term care facility.

Likewise, the personal property gifted away by Ray should have either been held or sold for Ida’s long-term benefit. Ray acknowledges that the personal property was

“... given to each child³ with the understanding that wherever Ida eventually resided, that if she wanted items returned to her, they would be returned for her use until her passing. Upon her death, the personal property items would remain with the children who had chosen them.”

Ray Burrows Aff. at 3 ¶ 10 (R. 119).

This is a curious and ambiguous statement. It appears self-serving and convenient in response to Plaintiff’s lawsuit. Moreover, there is no evidence that Ida was a participant in any “understanding.” If such understanding existed, it was solely in the mind of Ray

³ The terms “child” and “children” refer to all eight children, although four of those children are stepchildren and have no legal standing as “issue.”

and/or the other recipients of the personal property. Ray's statement is also fraught with questions about the legal status of the personal property that he gifted away.

For example, if Ida had requested that a particular item be returned to her and if such item had in fact been returned to her, would she be able to gift to someone else or dispose of it another manner? Or, would she be just borrowing her own property? And, if she somehow destroyed or damaged a returned item, would she be liable to the person who returned it to her? Further, would a child holding an item of personal property have any liability for selling, gifting or destroying the item so that it was no longer available to return to Ida if and when she requested its return?

Also, what about the fact that Plaintiff voluntarily reimbursed Ida's estate \$600 for the items that she received? *Kay Eagar 2nd Aff.* at 5 ¶ 28 (R. 163). Were those items to be returned whenever Ida wanted them? And if the vehicles and lawnmower could be sold and the proceeds deposited into the Trust, why weren't all of the other items of personal property sold and the proceeds deposited into the Trust?

Gifting away all of Ida's personal property simply had no benefit to Ida. Ida's personal property benefitted Ray, his brother, and the four stepchildren. Yet, the personal property that was gifted away clearly had value to Ida's estate. Ray alleges that a single item received by Kay has a value of \$6,000. *Ray Burrows Aff.* at 3 ¶ 8 (R.119). Surely all of the other items of personal property had some additional monetary value, although there is no evidence of such value.

Plaintiff contends that Ray far exceeded the scope of his authority when he gifted away all of Ida's personal property. The gifting was not for Ida's benefit and the power of attorney fails to authorize or contemplate such broad and encompassing gifting.

II. The trial court erred when it ruled that Ray, as the agent holding a power of attorney for asset management, did not violate his duty of loyalty to Ida.

The trial court ruled that under the power of attorney, Ray "... had the authority to dispose of Ida Burrow's personal property essentially in any manner he deemed appropriate within the limitations imposed by any fiduciary duties that might be applicable." *Order* at 2-3 ¶ 4, *Addendum* 1; (R. 274-75). However, the trial court failed to articulate what duty if any Ray had to Ida at the time the gifting took place. Plaintiff contends that Ray had a duty to act for the benefit of Ida and also a duty to respect the wishes that she expressed in her Last Will and Testament.

There is very little Utah law on the issues presented in this case. However, other jurisdictions such as Alabama, Massachusetts and Ohio have analyzed the duty of an agent holding a power of attorney. *See e.g., Lamb v. Scott*, 643 So. 2d 972, 974 (Ala. 1994) ("One who accepts a power of attorney covenants to use the power for the sole benefit of the one conferring the power and to use it in a manner consistent with the purposes of the agency relationship created by the power of attorney."); *Sevigny v. New South Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 586 So. 2d 884, 887 (Ala. 1991) ("The principal-agency

relationship is fiduciary in nature and imposes upon the agent a duty of loyalty, good faith, and fair dealing.").

In Massachusetts, the courts have come down hard on any an agent under a power of attorney who engages in self dealing. "Such self-dealing by an agent, in the absence (as here) of distinct authority from the principal expressly granted in the empowering instrument, has been continuously and uniformly denounced as one of the most profound breaches of fiduciary duty, irrespective of the agent's good faith and however indirect or circuitous the accomplishment of the benefit to the agent." *Gagnon v. Coombs*, 39 Mass. App. Ct. 144 at 157-58 (1995) (citing *Jennison v. Hapgood*, 7 Pick. 1, 7--8 (1828); *Sikes v. Inhabitants of Hatfield*, 13 Gray 347, 353 (1859); *American Circular Loom Co. v. Wilson*, 198 Mass. 182, 206--207 (1908); *Dolbeare v. Bowser*, 254 Mass. at 61; *Pitman v. Pitman*, 314 Mass. 465, 471, 476 (1943); *Berenson v. Nirenstein*, 326 Mass. 285, 288, 289 (1950); *Mackey v. Rootes Motors Inc.*, 348 Mass. 464, 467--468 (1965); *O'Brien v. Dwight*, 363 Mass. 256, 283--284 (1973); . . . RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY §§ 34, 39, 387, 388, 389, 391, 394.

In a recent Ohio case, the court strongly emphasized the importance of an agent acting consistent with a person's will. See *In re Estate of Leach*, 2006-Ohio-3755 (citing *In re Estate of Case* (Apr. 3, 1998), Montgomery App. No. 16747; and *Testa v. Roberts* (1988), 44 Ohio App.3d 161, 542 N.E.2d 654). In *Leach*, the Ohio court analyzed its holdings from *Case* and *Testa*. From *Case*, it stated that "where the state legislature has

clarified the requirements of a power of attorney regarding gift giving authority, courts must determine whether to interpret the power of attorney narrowly, according to the power conferred on its face, or to consider extrinsic evidence of the donor's intent." *See Leach* at ¶ 23. And from *Testa*, the Leach court stated that "the court invalidated gifts made to the attorney-in-fact and other family members under the general power of attorney when the gifts contravened the decedent's wishes as expressed in her will, the gifts were inconsistent with the lifetime estate planning strategy, and the decedent was incompetent when the power of attorney was executed." *Id.*

In the instant case, there is no evidence that Ida was incompetent when she executed the power of attorney. But her will clearly established a pattern of gifting for her personal property and a different pattern of gifting for all other property. Ida's wishes were to have her personal property go to her two children, or her "issue." When Ray gifted away Ida's personal property to all eight Children, his gifts contravened the wishes that Ida expressed in her will.

III. The trial court erred by ignoring the unambiguous language in Ida's Last Will and Testament that leaves all of her personal property to her "issue."

The trial court mentions Ida's estate plan and concludes that the gifting was not inconsistent with her overall estate plan. However, an analysis of the clear, unambiguous language contained in Ida's will provides a contrary result.

“I give and bequeath all of my tangible personal property of very kind including, without limitation, furniture, furnishings, pictures, books, objects of art, jewelry, and the like, together with all insurance policies relating thereto, as set forth in a written memorandum left by me. The remainder of my tangible personal property, or all of such property in the event that I leave no memorandum, I give and bequeath to my personal representative, to be divided among my issue by my personal representatives, in their sole and absolute discretion.”

Ida's Last Will at Article Third (*Addendum 2*) (R. 32).

No memorandum of personal property was ever prepared by Ida. *Order* at 3 ¶ 6 (*Addendum 1*) (R. 275). According to the foregoing language, all of Ida's personal property was to be divided among her “issue,” since no memorandum was left by her.

Defendants submitted an argument in their pleadings that the term “issue” was not restricted to the statutory definition found in Utah's Probate Code. (R. 198-99). However, the trial court never discussed nor ruled on whether the use of the term “issue” in Ida's will was intended to be broader than the statutory definition found in §§ 75-1-201(5), (9), and (25), Utah Code Ann. Utah's Probate Code defines “issue” as lineage through a blood line that expressly excludes a stepchild. While the term would include an adopted child, there were no adoptions for any of the eight Children involved in this case.

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