2006

Kay W. Eager v. Ray Burrows, Ronald Burrows, Linda Davis, Arthur Kiisel, Julia Rodgers, Florence Webster : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Ray Burrows gifted the subject personal property items to all eight of Ralph and Ida's children in a manner consistent with the broad gifting powers granted to him under a Power of Attorney, consistent with his roles as co-trustee under the family trust and as personal representative under Ralph's will, and consistent with Ralph and Ida's intent as reflected in all such documents executed on the same date as an integrated estate planning package. Ray did not breach any fiduciary duty, but conducted himself in a fair and equitable manner considering all of the circumstances.

The word "issue" as used in Ida's will under the circumstances of this case is not clear and unambiguous in light of the absence of a written memorandum directing the distribution of personal property, which her will clearly contemplated. If accepted, Eagar's position logically would require that if Ida had predeceased Ralph, all of the personal property from the 43-year marriage of Ralph and Ida, would have gone solely to Ralph's "issue" (Ray and Ralph Burrows) to the exclusion of the remaining children -- a result that would be equally unfair and inconsistent under the overall estate plan. All of the cases cited by Eagar in support of her position are factually distinguishable in that

they do not involve cases interpreting powers of attorney with gifting provisions relative to the distribution of personal property. Case law from Utah and other jurisdictions, as well as other legal authorities including the Restatement, support an affirmation of the trial court's decision in this case.

Public policy considerations also strongly favor affirming the trial court's decision. Adopting Eagar's position would effectively eliminate anyone's ability to rely on the validity of a gifting provision set forth in a power of attorney, which would have broad sweeping obvious negative effects.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION THAT RAY BURROWS CONDUCTED HIMSELF IN A MANNER CONSISTENT WITH THE BROAD POWERS GRANTED TO HIM IN A DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY WHEN HE GIFTED THE PERSONAL PROPERTY OF IDA BURROWS TO HER EIGHT CHILDREN BY RANDOM DRAWING IN EQUAL SHARES.

Boiled down, Eagar asserts that the tangible personal property of the estate of Ida Burrows should be returned to her as personal representative of the estate. The personal property at issue in this case, however, was gifted by random drawing, to all of Ida's eight children,⁴ shortly after the death of Ida's husband of 43 years, Ralph Burrows. Each

⁴Eagar has previously argued that Ray Burrows is not the son of Ida, and that other siblings are not her children. (R. 142 n.1). The relationship of the children to their

child, in turn, was given the opportunity to select items of personal property that they wanted.

It is curious indeed, that Eagar's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed with the trial court was completely silent as to Ray Burrow's Power of Attorney. Its existence was mentioned nowhere. The reason is obvious. Its existence decisively obliterates Eagar's claims. Eagar's Complaint contains two causes of action: (1) for return of personal property under Utah Code Annotated Section 75-3-708 (duty of personal representative to take possession of tangible personal property in the estate); and (2) for conversion. Personal property disposed of pursuant to Ray Burrow's Power of Attorney, prior to the death of Ida Burrows, is no longer part of the estate over which the personal representative has any right of possession after her appointment. In this case, Ray Burrows disposed of the personal property on 10/5/02. Ida Burrows died on 9/19/05, nearly three years later. Nearly three months later, Eagar was appointed the personal representative of Ida's estate. Consequently, Eagar has no legal right as personal representative to take possession of personal property that was properly distributed pursuant to a Power of Attorney more than three years prior to Eagar's appointment and the death of Ida.

parents is discussed above more fully in footnote 1.

The Power of Attorney which Ray Burrows possessed expressly authorized him to do all of the following:

to bargain and agree for, buy, sell, mortgage, hypothecate, and in any and every way and manner deal in and with goods, wares, and merchandise, chooses in action, and other property in possession or in action, and to make, do, and transact all and every kind of business of what nature or kind soever, including all business related to accounts in financial institutions. Also to gift property, whether real or personal, or sums of money or any other items belonging to IDA B. BUROWS [sic], and also for IDA B. BUROWS [sic] and in her name and as her act and deed, to sign, seal, execute, deliver, and acknowledge such deeds, covenants, indentures, agreements, mortgages, hypothecations, bottomries, charter parties, bills of lading, bills, bonds, notes, receipts, evidences of debt, releases, and satisfactions of mortgage, judgment, and other debts, and such other instruments in writing of whatever kind and nature as may be necessary or proper in the premises.

(Addendum 5 to Appellant's Brief; R. 124) (emphasis added). Moreover, the Power of Attorney went on to include the language that any acts taken by Ray should be considered as though they were acts personally taken by Ida. Specifically, it stated in relevant part:

GIVING AND GRANTING unto RAYMOND R. BURROWS, said Attorney, full power and authority to do and perform all and every act and thing whatsoever requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as IDA B. BUROWS [sic] might or could do if personally present herself, thereby ratifying and confirming all that her said Attorney RAYMOND R. BURROWS, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of these presents.

(Id.; R. 125) (emphasis added).

It is obvious that Ida trusted Ray to make decisions regarding the management of her assets, including her personal property. That is why she gave him the Power of Attorney. The level of trust she gave Ray Burrows is emphasized by the fact that she granted to Eagar only a limited Power of Attorney to make decisions regarding her healthcare, and not a broad power of attorney to manage assets specifically endowed with broad gifting powers. (See copy of medical Power of Attorney, attached as Addendum 1 hereto). Ray had the power to gift the personal property to anyone. He elected to gift the property in a fair and reasonable manner -- by drawing with the involvement of all of the children. Eagar's participation in a similar manner of distribution of jewelry following her mother's death bolsters the fundamental fairness of the 10/5/02 distribution. (See R. 110-11, 120, 148).

II. THE COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT RAY BURROWS DID NOT VIOLATE ANY DUTY OF LOYALTY TO IDA.

Contrary to Eagar's allegation, Ray's agency through the Power of Attorney granted to him by Ida is not elevated over Ida's Will. In fact, the exercise of his agency was entirely consistent with her Will, with her clear intent as to the distribution of her personal property, and with Ralph and Ida's overall estate plan. Leaving aside any technical statutory definition of the word "issue," Ida treated all the children as her own, and desired to have all property divided among them equally. Ida's Will in and of itself

is not clear and unambiguous. Surely, it is unlikely that Ida knew in her mind that the word "issue" might be a statutorily defined term of art that would exclude numerous individuals whom she considered, loved, and treated in all respects as her own children for more than 43 years. Obviously she intended "issue" to refer to all of her children, and that they should all be treated equally as is consistent with the other estate planning documents and is consistent with her clearly expressed intent.

The parties hereto have found no Utah appellate case law interpreting the word "issue" in a will. One appellate decision outside Utah, however, has held that the word "issue" does not "have such a fixed and limited meaning that it cannot vary with the intention of the testator who uses it." Accordingly, the intent of the testator becomes a valid consideration. *Newick v. Mason*, 581 A.2d 1269, 1273 (Maine 1990); *see also Hamilton v. Hamilton*, 869 P.2d 971, 975 (Utah App. 1994) (when construing a will, "extrinsic evidence may be used to ascertain what the testator intended").

Eagar's argument, if accepted, means that simply because Ralph predeceased Ida, all of the personal property items that belonged to Ralph then became Ida's, and then upon Ida's death would be distributed to Ida's two natural children alone, to the exclusion of the remaining six children. The evidence in this case, taken as a whole, as set forth in the statements of fact above, demonstrates that was not Ralph or Ida's intent. Ralph and Ida intended to treat all of the eight children equally. If Ida had predeceased

Ralph, upon Ralph's death, his children would not have distributed personal property items to the exclusion of Ida's natural children.

Appellees acknowledge that Ida's property was to be used for her benefit.

Arguably, Ray was at least empowered to coordinate the distribution of 50% of the personal property acquired during the marriage which pertained to his father's estate.

Appellees recognize the difficulty in determining how such items could be divided in such a manner. It is exactly for such reasons -- difficulty managing assets and difficulties arising from one's incapacity -- that powers of attorney are granted. Having been granted powers as a co-trustee in the Trust, as the personal representative of his father's estate, and as the attorney-in-fact under the Power of Attorney, Ray distributed the personal property in as fair and equitable manner as could be determined, given the intentions of both Ralph and Ida. Many of the items of personal property had little or no commercial value, but those that did, such as the house, vehicles, lawn mower, etc. were sold and the monies placed into the Trust. Many items of personal property had significant sentimental value, but insignificant commercial value. It was felt that those items should remain with members of the family, and to the extent they were eventually determined to have any significant commercial value, those amounts could be paid into the Trust by the recipients of those items.

Items belonging to Ida were absolutely for her benefit, and all such decisions made

with respect to her property were made with that fact in mind. Indeed, following the drawing that led to the distribution of the personal property, and after Ida moved into Sandy Regional, many of the items were returned to her and placed in her room for her benefit, until the time of her death. (R. 174-75).

Ray was not acting in a self-serving manner under the Power of Attorney. He, along with the other children, were trying to use best efforts to conduct themselves fairly, honestly, and in a manner consistent with the desires of their parents. If Ray were acting entirely in his own self interest, instead of conducting a random drawing that permitted each of the children to select items they desired to possess, he would have taken possession of all the personal property, and either kept it all for himself, or sold what he could and kept the money. In addition, Ray was acting in a manner consistent with a strict construction of the Power of Attorney. As set forth above, it expressly grants Ray the broad powers, without stated limitations, including the express power to gift Ida's personal property and that all acts of Ray should be considered to be her own acts. (See Addendum 5 to Appellant's Brief; *see also Kline By and Through Kline v. Utah Dept. of Health*, 776 P.2d 57, 61 (Utah App. 1989) ("A power of attorney is an instrument in writing by which one person, as principal, authorizes another to act as agent. The scope of the authority so conferred may, by the terms of the instrument itself, be general or limited, but the instrument creating this agency relationship is to be strictly

construed.").

As indicated above, the parties to this action have found no case law in Utah that is directly on point in this matter. Eagar cites case law from three other jurisdictions in support of her position: Alabama, Massachusetts, and Ohio. All of these cases relied on by Eagar are readily distinguishable on their facts.

From Alabama, Eagar relies on *Lamb v. Scott*, 643 So. 2d 972 (Ala. 1994), and *Sevigny v. New South Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 586 So. 2d 884 (Ala. 1991). See page 11 of Appellant's Brief. In *Lamb*, the court was not dealing with an integrated estate planning package, but rather interpretation of a will done a year later after a power of attorney had been completed, which did not contain any gifting provision, and which dealt with the validity of an attorney-in-fact's conveyance of real property (the family farm) solely to herself, as opposed to her sharing an equal 1/3 share in the property with the deceased's other daughter and stepson. The court properly invalidated the agent's attempted conveyance in that case. See *Lamb*, 643 So. 2d at 973-74. Similarly *Sevigny* did not deal with a power of attorney which contained a gifting provision, but rather dealt with the agent's claimed share in various certificates of deposit totaling \$315,165. It therefore, also did not deal with personal property of questionable commercial value, but rather with substantial cash assets.

Out of Massachusetts, Eagar cites to *Gagnon v. Coombs*, 654 N.E.2d 54 (Mass.

App. 1995), and then string cites to eight cases referred to in *Gagnon*. See page 12 of Appellant's Brief. Like *Lamb*, discussed above, *Gagnon* dealt with a power of attorney that had no gifting provision, and which considered the appropriateness of the agent conveying to herself an interest in real property. As trustee of a trust she created, she conveyed to herself the principal's 184-acre farm property. The court properly invalidated the attempted conveyance of the real property in that case. *Id.* at 56, 63.

Each and every one of the eight cases cited in Eagar's string reference is distinguishable for the reason that none involved a power of attorney and were also otherwise factually dissimilar on other grounds as well. See *Jennison v. Hapgood*, 7 Pick. 1 (Mass. 1828) (dealing with conveyance of real property -- a valuable "homestead farm"); *Sikes v. Inhabitants of Hatfield*, 13 Gray 347 (Mass. 1859) (dealing with claim for compensation beyond "tax bills"); *American Circular Loom Co. v. Wilson*, 84 N.E. 133 (Mass. 1908) (patent case involving issues of confidentiality in employer/employee context); *Dolbeare v. Bowser*, 149 N.E. 626 (Mass. 1925) (dealing with fiduciary duty of guardian to his ward); *Pitman v. Pitman*, 50 N.E. 2d 69 (Mass. 1943) (dealing with testamentary power of appointment); *Berenson v. Nirenstein*, 93 N. E. 2d 610 (Mass. 1950) (dealing with fiduciary duty between purchaser and broker); *Mackey v. Rootes Motors Inc.*, 204 N.E. 2d 436 (Mass. 1965) (dealing with general agency principles in employer/employee relationship); *O'Brien v. Dwight*, 294 N.E. 2d 363 (Mass. 1972) (dealing with duties as a

fiduciary of a trust).

From Ohio, Eagar then refers to the following three decisions: *In re Estate of Leach*, 2006 Ohio 3755 (Ohio App. 2006); *In re Estate of Case*, 1998 Ohio App. LEXIS 1378 (Ohio App. 1998); and *Testa v. Roberts*, 542 N.E. 2d 654 (Ohio App. 1988). Each of these cases is also distinguishable for the fact that none dealt with a power of attorney with a gifting provision, and also each dealt with substantial sums of cash assets. See *Leach*, at page 1 (involved \$66,439.42 in cash assets); *Case*, at page 1 (involved \$66,230.07 in cash assets); *Testa*, 542 N.E. 2d at 657 (involved total of \$235,980.19 in cash assets; also determined sufficient evidence that principal was not competent to sign the power of attorney, which Eagar has admitted there is no evidence Ida was incompetent when she signed the Power of Attorney in this case (see Appellant's Brief at 13)). Obviously, in the case before this Court, Ray has a very clear Power of Attorney that expressly granted him gifting abilities. Moreover, the property conveyed under the Power of Attorney was not cash assets, but personal property items of little or unknown monetary value including such things as needlepoints, furniture, book cases, and the like.

It is also important to discuss the Restatement provisions cited by Eagar in the context of the alleged "self dealing." Appellees do not disagree with the general principle that "[a]n agent is a fiduciary with respect to matters within the scope of his agency." Restatement (Second) of Agency § 13. The Restatement goes on to describe, however,

the circumstances considered in interpreting the scope of an agent's authority:

An authorization is interpreted in light of all accompanying circumstances, including among other matters:

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